MORTON MANDAN PUBLIC LIBRARY MANDAN, NORTH DAKOTA

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

F	Page
BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND APPOINTED OFFICIAL	1
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT	2
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Statement of Net Position	6
Statement of Activities	7
Balance Sheet - Governmental Fund	8
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Fund to the Statement of Net Position	9
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Governmental Fund	10
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance of Governmental Fund to the Statement of Activities	11
Notes to the Financial Statements	12
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund	23
Note to the Required Supplementary Information	24
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMEN AUDITING STANDARDS	
Schedule of Findings and Responses	27

BOARD OF TRUSTEES AND APPOINTED OFFICIAL DECEMBER 31, 2024

Board of Trustees

President	Kara Geiger	City of Mandan
Vice President	Jen Padilla	Morton County
Mandan City Commissioner	Craig Sjoberg	City of Mandan
Morton County Commissioner	Nathan Boehm	Morton County
Trustee	Tasha Bohl	Morton County
Trustee	Beth Kroh	City of Mandan
Trustee	Austin Lafferty	City of Mandan
Trustee	Emily Remmick	Morton County

Appointed Official

Director Barb Sandstrom



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Trustees Morton Mandan Public Library Mandan, North Dakota

Report on the Financial Statements

Opinions

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund of the Morton Mandan Public Library, a governmental fund of the City of Mandan, North Dakota, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Library's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities and the major fund of the Morton Mandan Public Library, a governmental fund of the City of Mandan, North Dakota, as of December 31, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Morton Mandan Public Library and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Emphasis of Matter - Component Unit

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the Morton Mandan Public Library, and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Mandan, North Dakota as of December 31, 2024 and the changes in its financial position for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter-Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1, the Library adopted GASB Statement No. 101, *Compensated Absences*. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. As a result of implementing this new standard, the Library has recorded a restatement to their December 31, 2023 financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Morton Mandan Public Library's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
 procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
 expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Morton Mandan Public Library's
 internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Morton Mandan Public Library's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the budgetary comparison information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of the financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected by this missing information.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information included in the report. The other information comprises the listing of the board of trustees and appointed officials but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated June 26, 2025 on our consideration of the Library's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Library's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Library's internal controls over financial reporting and compliance.

BRADY, MARTZ & ASSOCIATES, P.C. BISMARCK, NORTH DAKOTA

June 26, 2025

Forady Martz

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION DECEMBER 31, 2024

	Governmental Activities		
ASSETS			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	338,067	
Accounts receivable		24,843	
Taxes receivable		42,214	
Prepaid items		14,917	
Capital assets (net of depreciation):			
Buildings and improvements		768,504	
Infrastructure		1,577	
Machinery and equipment		273,462	
Total assets		1,463,584	
LIABILITIES Salaries and benefits payable Accounts payable		28,520 5,144	
Noncurrent liabilities:			
Due within one year: Compensated absences Due after one year:		24,886	
Compensated absences		16,510	
Total liabilities		75,060	
NET POSITION Net investment in capital assets Unrestricted		1,043,543 344,981	
Total net position	\$	1,388,524	

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

		Program Revenues					
Function/Program	Expenses		Charges for Services		Operating Grants and Contributions		(Expense) venue and nanges in t Position
Governmental Activities: Culture and recreation	\$ 1,116,510	\$	58,360	\$	336,519	\$	(721,631)
Total governmental activities	\$ 1,116,510	\$	58,360	\$	336,519		(721,631)
			Ge	neral	Revenues		
	Prope	rty, del	ty, delinquent, mobile home taxes				681,889
		State aid distribution					10,650
					Interest		14,412
				Mis	cellaneous		6,809
	Total general revenues				l revenues		713,760
Change in net position				et position		(7,871)	
			uary 1, as p				1,452,965
	Change i		unting princi	•			(56,570)
		Net po	osition - Jan	uary	1, restated		1,396,395
	Net position - December 31				cember 31	\$	1,388,524

BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUND DECEMBER 31, 2024

	General			
ASSETS				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	338,067		
Accounts receivable		24,843		
Taxes receivable		42,214		
Prepaid items		14,917		
Total assets	\$	420,041		
LIABILITIES				
Salaries and benefits payable	\$	28,520		
Accounts payable		5,144		
Total liabilities		33,664		
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES				
Unavailable revenue - property taxes		13,097		
FUND BALANCES				
Nonspendable:				
Prepaid items		14,917		
Committed for:				
Bookmobile replacement		143,661		
Operating reserve		186,365		
Capital reserve		3,960		
Unrestricted		24,377		
Total fund balance		373,280		
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance	\$	420,041		

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUND TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION DECEMBER 31, 2024

Total fund balance for governmental fund		\$ 373,280
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:		
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the fund: Buildings and improvements (net of depreciation)	768,504	
Infrastructure (net of depreciation)	1,577	
Machinery and equipment (net of depreciation)	273,462	
Total capital assets		1,043,543
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the fund: Taxes receivable		13,097
Taxes receivable		13,097
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the fund:		
Compensated absences		 (41,396)
Total net position of governmental activities		\$ 1,388,524

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – GOVERNMENTAL FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

	General
REVENUES	
Taxes	\$ 680,548
Intergovernmental	334,621
Charges for services	58,360
Investment earnings	14,412
Donations	12,548
Miscellaneous	6,809
Total revenues	1,107,298
EXPENDITURES	
Current	
Culture and recreation	1,012,478
Capital Outlay	146,126
Total expenditures	1,158,604
Net change in fund balance	(51,306)
Fund balance - January 1	424,586
Fund balance - December 31	\$ 373,280

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF GOVERNMENTAL FUND TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Net change in fund balance - total governmental fund	\$ (51,306)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:	
Governmental fund report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense:	
Capital outlay 146,126 Depreciation (150,390) Total	(4,264)
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenue in the fund:	
Taxes receivable (net)	1,341
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental fund:	
Net increase in compensated absences	 46,358
Change in net position of governmental activities	\$ (7,871)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2024

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Morton Mandan Public Library, a governmental fund of the City of Mandan, North Dakota, is a joint public library serving Morton County and the City of Mandan, and is governed by a joint board of trustees comprising of four members from Morton County and four members from the City of Mandan, and operates under a Memorandum of Understanding between Morton County and the City of Mandan. The Library has adopted the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which is the nationally accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the Library's accounting policies are as follows:

Reporting Entity

Component units are legally separate organizations for which a government is financially accountable. The Morton Mandan Public Library is included as a component unit in a separate report of the City of Mandan (the primary government) because of the significance of the operational and financial relationship with the City.

For financial reporting purposes, the Library has included all funds and activities that make up its legal entity. The Library has also considered all potential component units for which it is financially accountable, and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the Library are such that exclusion would cause the Library's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body and (1) the ability of the Library to impose its will on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the Library.

As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these financial statements present the Library's funds and activities based on these criteria since there are no component units to include in the Library's reporting entity.

Based on the above criteria, the Morton Mandan Public Library has no component units included in its report.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and statement of activities report information on all non-fiduciary activities of the Library. The Library's activities are governmental activities.

Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.

The statement of net position presents the reporting entity's non-fiduciary assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Net position is reported in three categories:

Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, and the like, or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of the preceding categories. Unrestricted net position often is designated, to indicate that management does not consider them to be available for general operations. Unrestricted net position often has constraints on resources which are imposed by management, but can be removed or modified.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable within a specific function. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items not meeting the definition of program revenues are instead reported as general revenue.

Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for the governmental fund.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of cash flows.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as they become susceptible to accrual; generally when they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collected within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.

The Library considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal year. Major revenues that are determined to be susceptible to accrual include taxes and intergovernmental. Unearned revenue is recorded for receivables that are measurable but not available at year-end.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment is due and payable.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Library reports the following governmental fund:

General Fund - This fund is the principal operating fund of the Library. It is used to account for all financial resources that are not accounted for in other funds.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents, for reporting purposes, include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. This includes investments with original maturity of three months or less

Investments

State statutes authorize the Library to invest in state and local securities, commercial paper, bonds, treasury bills and notes, or other securities that are a direct obligation of, or an obligation insured or guaranteed by, the treasury of the United States, or its agencies, instrumentalities, or organizations created by an act of Congress, securities sold under agreements to repurchase written by a financial institution in which the underlying securities for the agreement to repurchase are of the type listed above, certificates of deposit fully insured by the federal deposit insurance corporation or the state, obligations of the state.

Taxes Receivable

Taxes receivable represent the past three years of delinquent uncollected taxes. No allowance has been established for uncollectible taxes receivable.

The county treasurer acts as an agent to collect property taxes levied in the county for all taxing authorities. Any material collections are distributed after the end of the month. Property taxes are levied as of January 1. The property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property on January 1. The tax levy may be paid in two installments: the first installment includes one-half of the real estate taxes and all the special assessments; the second installment is the balance of the real estate taxes. The first installment is due by March 1 and the second installment is due by October 15. A five percent discount is allowed if all taxes and special assessments are paid by February 15. After the due dates, the bill becomes delinquent and penalties are assessed. Most property owners choose to pay property taxes and special assessments in a single payment on or before February 15 and receive the five percent discount on the property taxes.

Prepaid Items

Prepaid items reflect payments for costs applicable to future accounting periods. Prepaid items in the governmental fund financial statements are reflected as a reservation of fund balance on the balance sheet.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include buildings and improvements, infrastructure, machinery and equipment, and construction work in progress, are valued at historical cost or at estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are valued at their acquisition value on the date of donation. Where necessary, estimates of original cost are derived by factoring price levels from the current period to the time of acquisition. Library books are not capitalized as capital assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

All other capital assets with an original cost of \$5,000 or more per unit and an estimated useful life in excess of two years are capitalized and reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements. Exceptions include: buildings and improvements, the threshold is \$25,000 and infrastructure assets, the threshold is \$50,000. Capital asset costs include the purchase price or construction cost, plus the costs necessary to place the asset in its intended location and condition for use. In governmental activities, interest costs on self-constructed assets are not capitalized. Normal maintenance and repair costs that do not materially add to the value or extend the life of the asset are not capitalized.

Infrastructure consists of parking lots. Infrastructure is reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements.

Capital assets in governmental funds are recorded as expenditures in the funds used to acquire or construct them in the governmental fund financial statements. Capital assets, along with accumulated depreciation and depreciation expense, are reported in the governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements.

Construction work in progress is not depreciated.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

<u>Assets</u>	<u>Years</u>
Buildings and improvements	50
Infrastructure	30
Machinery and equipment	5

Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Library has only one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis of accounting that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental fund reports unavailable revenues from property taxes. This amount is deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amount becomes available.

Compensated Absences

Annual Leave

Eligible Library employees accrue vested annual leave at a variable rate based on years of service. In general, accrued annual leave cannot exceed 240 hours as of the date of the employee's anniversary. The amount of annual leave earned ranges between eight and eighteen hours per month. The governmental fund financial statements recognize annual leave when the liability is incurred and payable from available expendable resources. This normally occurs only if an employee has unused reimbursable leave still outstanding at the time of their

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

retirement or resignation. The government-wide financial statements present the cost of accumulated annual leave as a liability.

Sick Leave

Eligible Library employees accrue sick leave at the rate of 8 hours per month without limitation on the amount that can be accumulated. Employees vesting between the ages of 62 to 64, the Library is liable for one-third of the employee's accumulated unused sick leave up to a maximum of 60 days. Employees vesting at age 65 or older, the Library is liable for all the employee's accumulated unused sick leave up to a maximum of 60 days. The governmental fund financial statements recognize sick leave as it is incurred. The government-wide financial statements include the estimated cost of sick leave as a liability after an employee has reached age 62.

The Library accounts for compensated absences using a days-used approach. This approach consists of gathering the historical usage of compensated absences used to determine both a liability related to leave to be used as time off and leave to be settled in cash upon termination of employment. Salary-related employer payments are included in the calculation of the compensated absence liability.

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the governmental activities.

Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses

In the government-wide statement of activities, revenues and expenses are segregated by activity (governmental), then further by function for governmental activities. Additionally, revenues are classified between program and general revenues. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods or services, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues, rather than as program revenue. General revenues include all taxes.

In the government-wide financial statements, revenues are reported by source and are further classified as either "general purpose" or "restricted". General purpose revenues are available to fund any activity accounted for in the fund. Restricted revenues are, either by State law or by outside restriction, available only for specified purposes. Unused restricted revenues at year-end are recorded as restricted fund balance. When revenues are not restricted or do not have constraints placed on their use, the funds are considered by the Library's board to be committed or set aside for a specific purpose. When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, the Library considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the Library considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the Library's board has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions.

In the governmental fund financial statements, expenditures are reported by character: "Current" or "Capital Outlay". Current expenditures are subclassified by function.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Capital outlay includes expenditures for capital assets.

Net Position

The difference between fund assets, deferred inflows / outflows of resources and liabilities is "Net Position" on the government-wide financial statements, and "Fund Balance" on governmental fund financial statements.

Fund Balance Classifications

In the fund financial statements, fund balance for governmental funds are reported in five classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the Library is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent:

Nonspendable includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted results when constraints placed on the use of resources are either (a) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or (b) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Committed consists of amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action (simple majority vote) of the Library's highest level of decision-making authority (Library board) and cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Library removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action it employed to previously commit the amounts.

Assigned consists of amounts that are constrained by the Library's intent to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed, as expressed by the director to which the City of Mandan's commission has delegated the authority to assign amounts to be used for specific purposes. The City of Mandan's budget and finance committee has the authority to remove or change the assignment of funds.

Unassigned is the residual classification for the general fund and represents the amount that has not been assigned to other funds and that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund.

Minimum Fund Balance

The unrestricted fund balance is the amount in the fund balance less nonspendable and restricted fund balance. The Library will strive to maintain a minimum unrestricted general fund balance equal to 17% of the general fund's subsequent year budgeted expenditures (less debt service and capital outlay). This will assist in maintaining an adequate level of fund balance to provide for economic and financial stability. If spending unrestricted fund balance in designated circumstances has reduced unrestricted fund balance to a point below the minimum target, as noted above, the replenishment will be within five years.

The minimum fund balance in the General Fund at December 31, 2024 was \$186,365.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Change in Accounting Principle

The Library implemented GASB Statement No. 101, *Compensated Absences* in the year ended December 31, 2024. GASB Statement No. 101 enhances the accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting for compensated absences. The adoption of GASB 101 resulted in a restatement to Net Position as of January 1, 2024 of \$56,570.

The Library implemented GASB Statement No. 100, *Accounting Change and Error Correction - An Amendment to GASB Statement No. 62*, during the year ended December 31, 2024. GASB Statement No. 100 enhances the accounting and financial reporting requirement for accounting changes and error corrections.

NOTE 2 DEPOSITS

Custodial Credit Risk

The Library minimizes custodial credit risk by restrictions set forth in state statute. Custodial credit risk is the risk associated with the failure of a depository financial institution. In the event of a depository financial institution's failure the Library would not be able to recover its deposits or collateralized securities that are in the possession of outside parties. The Library does not have a formal policy that addresses custodial credit risk for deposits. However, in accordance with state statutes, the Library's board requires that all Library funds be deposited at financial institutions that are covered by federal deposit insurance. State statutes also require that the deposits be protected by insurance, collateral or a surety bond. The fair value of the collateral pledged must be equal to or greater than 110% of the deposits not covered by insurance or bonds. The only exception is for funds that are deposited with the Bank of North Dakota, which is owned and backed by the full faith and credit of the State of North Dakota.

At December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the Library's deposits was \$337,867 and the bank balance was \$397,651 all of which was insured and collateralized. The Library also maintains a petty cash balance of \$200.

The deposits presented in the financial statements at December 31, 2024, are as follows:

Primary Government

Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 338,067
Less: Petty cash	 (200)
Total deposits	\$ 337,867

NOTE 3 INVESTMENTS

The investment policies of the Library are governed by state statutes, indicating that all public funds must be deposited in the Bank of North Dakota unless there are other constitutional or statutory provisions.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt securities will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The price of debt security typically moves in the opposite direction of the change in interest rates. The Library does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to potential fair value losses arising from future changes in interest rates.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The Library does not have an investment policy that specifically addresses credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's investment in a single issuer. The Library does not have an investment policy that specifically addresses concentrations of credit risk in a single issuer.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment or a deposit. The Library does not have a formal investment policy governing foreign currency risk.

NOTE 4 CAPITAL ASSETS

The following is a summary of capital assets during the fiscal year:

Governmental Activities	Balance 1/1/2024	Additions Deletions					Balance 12/31/2024
Capital assets being depreciated:							
Buildings and improvements	\$ 1,059,842	\$ 94,234	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 1,154,076		
Infrastructure	139,339	-	-	-	139,339		
Machinery and equipment	796,799	51,892	(28,520)	8,128	828,299		
Total capital assets being depreciated	1,995,980	146,126	(28,520)	8,128	2,121,714		
Less accumulated depreciation for:							
Buildings and improvements	362,491	23,081	-	-	385,572		
Infrastructure	137,537	225	-	-	137,762		
Machinery and equipment	448,145	127,084	(28,520)	8,128	554,837		
Total accumulated depreciation	948,173	150,390	(28,520)	8,128	1,078,171		
Total capital assets being depreciated, net	1,047,807	(4,264)			1,043,543		
Total capital assets, net	\$ 1,047,807	\$ (4,264)	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 1,043,543		

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

NOTE 5 LONG-TERM DEBT

Changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2024, are summarized as follows:

	В	alance							
	0.	1/01/24				В	Balance	Du	e Within
Governmental Activities	(Restated)		ated) Additions		Reductions	12/31/24		One Year	
Compensated absences *	\$	56,570	\$		\$ (15,174)	\$	41,396	\$	24,886

^{*}The change in compensated absences is presented as a net change.

NOTE 6 EMPLOYEE PENSION PLAN

Defined Contribution Plan

The City of Mandan Employee Retirement Plan and Trust is a Defined Contribution Plan that covers eligible Library employees. The Defined Contribution Plan had 10 participants as of December 31, 2024.

Upon the death of a participating employee or former participating employee, the vested account balance of that deceased participant is available to the participant's designated beneficiary(ies). An employee who becomes totally and permanently disabled while employed by the Library is eligible to receive a distribution of the vested account balance. To qualify under this section, the employee must meet the criteria established by the Plan for being totally disabled.

Employees are entitled to their vested account balance. A participating employee is immediately 100% vested in the employee's contributions. A participating employee vests in the employer contributions made on the employee's behalf as follows:

Upon completion of one year of service	25%
Upon completion of two years of service	50%
Upon completion of three years of service	75%
Upon completion of four years of service	100%

Employees may elect to receive their account balance in a lump sum, lump sum direct rollover, or periodic distribution.

Contributions are set by City ordinance and are a percentage of salaries and wages. Employee contributions are established at 2%, and employer contributions are established at 8% of regular compensation. The employer's required contributions for the year ended December 31, 2024 were \$36.835.

The City, or vendors contracted by the City, has exclusive authority to invest and manage the assets of the Employee Retirement Plan and Trust. The Plan allows each participating employee to direct the investment of the individual's employer and employee contributions and earnings to one or more investment options within the available categories of investment as established by the City.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

NOTE 7 RISK MANAGEMENT

The Library is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Library carries commercial insurance. Settlements, resulting from these risks, have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.

North Dakota Insurance Reserve Fund

In 1986, state agencies and political subdivisions of the State of North Dakota joined together to form the North Dakota Insurance Reserve Fund (NDIRF), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and insurance program for the state and over 2,500 political subdivisions. The Library pays an annual premium to NDIRF for its general liability, auto, and public asset insurance coverage. The coverage by NDIRF is limited to losses of \$2,000,000 per occurrence for general liability.

State Fire and Tornado Fund

The Library participates in the State Fire and Tornado Fund. The Library pays an annual premium for the Fund to cover damage to buildings and contents. Replacement cost is estimated in consultation with the Fund to provide replacement cost coverage. The Fund currently provides the Library with an aggregate coverage limit of \$250,000,000 with specific special limits varying from \$500 to \$500,000.

State Bonding Fund

The Library participates in the State Bonding Fund. The Fund currently provides the Library with blanket fidelity bond coverage in the amount of \$2,000,000 for its public employees and public officials. The Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

Workforce Safety & Insurance

The Library participates in the Workforce Safety & Insurance (WSI). WSI is a state insurance fund and a "no fault" insurance system, covering employers and employees. WSI is financed by premiums assessed to employers. The premiums are available primarily for the payment of claims to employees injured in the course of employment.

PERS Uniform Group Insurance Program

The Library participates in the PERS Uniform Group Insurance Program who contracts with Sanford Health Plan to provide health care insurance to the employees of the State of North Dakota, or any of its political subdivisions, institutions, departments or agencies. The Library contributes a percentage of the monthly premium based upon an employee's years of service.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED DECEMBER 31, 2024

NOTE 8 NEW PRONOUNCEMENTS

GASB Statement No. 102, *Certain Risk Disclosures*, requires entities to disclose critical information about their exposure to risks due to certain concentrations or limitations that could lead to financial distress or operational challenges. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024.

GASB Statement No. 103, *Financial Reporting Model Improvements*, provides guidance on the following accounting matters:

- continues the requirement that the basic financial statements be preceded by management discussion and analysis (MD&A),
- continues the requirement that the proprietary fund statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position continue to distinguish between operating nonoperating revenues and expenses,
- requires governments to present budgetary comparison information using a single method of communication –RSI, along with variance between original and final budget amounts and variances between final budget and actual amounts.

This statement is in effect for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025.

GASB Statement No. 104, *Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets*, establishes requirements for certain types of capital assets to be disclosed separately in the capital assets note. These items include disclosing separately lease assets, intangible right-to-use assets, subscription assets and intangible assets. In addition, additional disclosures will be required for capital assets held for sale. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2025. Earlier application is encouraged.

Management has not yet determined what effect these statements will have on the Library's financial statements.

NOTE 9 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No significant events occurred subsequent to the Library's year end. Subsequent events have been evaluated through June 26, 2025, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE – GENERAL FUND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

		Original Budget	Final Budget			Variance with Final Budget	
REVENUES			 	-			<u> </u>
Taxes	\$	678,478	\$ 678,478	\$	680,548	\$	2,070
Intergovernmental		292,216	330,816		334,621		3,805
Charges for services		46,348	46,348		58,360		12,012
Investment earnings		1,400	1,400		14,412		13,012
Donations		21,600	21,600		12,548		(9,052)
Miscellaneous	_	8,500	 8,500		6,809		(1,691)
Total revenues		1,048,542	 1,087,142		1,107,298		20,156
EXPENDITURES Current							
Culture and recreation		1,024,087	1,083,616		1,012,478		71,138
Capital outlay	_	90,000	 90,000		146,126		(56,126)
Total expenditures		1,114,087	 1,173,616		1,158,604		15,012
Excess (deficiency) of revenues							
over (under) expenditures		(65,545)	 (86,474)		(51,306)		35,168
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) Transfers out		(105,000)	 (105,000)				(105,000)
Total other financing sources and uses		(105,000)	 (105,000)				(105,000)
Net change in fund balance	\$	(170,545)	\$ (191,474)		(51,306)	\$	35,168
Fund balance - January 1					424,586		
Fund balance - December 31				\$	373,280		

NOTE TO THE REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION DECEMBER 31, 2024

NOTE 1 GENERAL BUDGETARY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Morton Mandan Public Library, a governmental fund of the City of Mandan, North Dakota, is required to prepare the annual Budget in accordance with the state's Municipal Budget Law and also with existing City Ordinances, Resolutions, contracts and agreements. In addition to these legal requirements, the City's Significant Budget Policies provide further direction and guidance to the budgeting process.

The annual budget is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the governmental fund. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end.

The appropriated budget is prepared by fund and function. The Library may make transfers of appropriations for operations and maintenance expenditures within a fund. Transfers of appropriations for salaries and benefits, capital outlay, or between funds require the approval of the Library's board. The legal level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is the fund level.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees Morton Mandan Public Library Mandan, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and the major fund of Morton Mandan Public Library, a governmental fund of the City of Mandan, North Dakota, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Morton Mandan Public Library's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 26, 2025.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Morton Mandan Public Library's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Library's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Library's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies, and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our

audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses as item 2024-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Morton Mandan Public Library's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

Morton Mandan Public Library's Response to Finding

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Morton Mandan Public Library's response to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses. The Morton Mandan Public Library's response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the Library's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

BRADY, MARTZ & ASSOCIATES, P.C. BISMARCK, NORTH DAKOTA

June 26, 2025

Forady Martz

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

2024-001: Preparation of Financial Statements - Significant Deficiency

Criteria

An appropriate system of internal control requires the Library to prepare financial statements in compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Condition

The Library's personnel prepare periodic financial information for internal use that meets the needs of management and the board. However, the Library currently does not prepare financial statements, including accompanying note disclosures, as required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Library has elected to have the auditors assist in the preparation of the financial statements and notes.

<u>Cause</u>

The Library elected to not allocate resources for the preparation of the financial statements.

Effect

There is an increased risk of material misstatement or omission of material disclosures to the Library's financial statements.

Recommendation

We recommend the Library consider the additional risk of having the auditors assist in the preparation of the financial statements and note disclosures and consider preparing them in the future. As a compensating control the Library should establish an internal control policy to document the annual review of the financial statements and schedules and to review a financial statement disclosure checklist.

Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions

Due to the cost benefit, the Library has elected to have the auditors prepare the financial statements. The City has one CPA on staff who keeps current with the new accounting standards. City staff currently reviews the financial statements and schedules prior to finalization of the financial statements.